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St. Stephen’s Episcopal Church:
Three centuries

in the heart of RidgefieH

When Ridgefield was settled in 1708, the church,

the citizens and their government were all one: It

was a congregational society, where members of the
local church made the decisions, unfettered by any
higher ecclesiastical authority.

The town’s establishment came just a year

after the first Church of England parish formed in

Stratford. Church of England worshippers followed
the episcopal tradition, where churches were
governed by bishops, while the Congregationalists
who settled Ridgefield organized their own churches
and selected their own leaders.

For the early churches affiliated with the Church
of England, this meant that decisions and ordinations
were in the control of the Bishop of London.

Not until 1725, when the Rev. Samuel
Johnson, from Stratford, began to preach to
Ridgefielders, did a Church of England parish
begin to form here. It was known as the First
Society in Ridgefield—Church of England until
1831 when the name St. Stephen’s was chosen.

Now, St. Stephen’s Church celebrates its

300th anniversary, a familiar and historic presence The fourth, and current, church, built in 1915-16,

in the center of the Ridgeﬂeld Vi”age- photographed by Josef Hartmann in spring, 1916.




In the church’s early days, Ridgefield was a
missionary outpost with ministers often traveling
good distances (from Norwalk, from Newtown, from
New York State). By 1735, the Rev. John Beach told
associates that there were “nearly twenty families
of very serious and religious people, who had a just
esteem of the Church of England and desired to have
the opportunity of worshipping God in that way.”

All of the clergy who served in Ridgefield until
the American Revolution were missionaries of the
Society for the Propagation of the Gospel in Foreign
Parts (based in Eng|and) and were supported |oy the
SPG as well as by the local property tax that was
apportioned to the church beginning in 1738. The
Ridgefield proprietors agreed in 1740 to provide
land for a church, on property formerly belonging
to John Sturtevant, who had died.

A building was erected about where the present
church stands, according to church historian Robert

Haight, but “like all other colonial churches, could not
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be consecrated since there was no colonial bishop.”
The church was used from its completion in 1740
until the Revolutionary War when it was partially
burned by the British in the Battle of Ridgefield (it
had been requisitioned to house supplies for the
Patriot forces).

Ridgefield had decided the question of its
allegiance in favor of independence from England,
but not without a struggle. The first Town Meeting
vote repudiated the Continental Congress and
acknowledged “his most sacred majesty King
George ye 3rd to be our rightful Sovereign.”
However, by the end of that fateful year, 1775, the
Town Meeting was ready to “disannul the resolves
enter'd into and passed, on the 30th of January,
1775, and adopt and approve of ye Continental
Congress, and the measures directed to in their
Association, for securing and defending the rights

and liberties of ye United American Colonies.”

There were no objectors.
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The post-Revolutionary War church, built about 1791 was a very simple structure, built by parishioners who were still feeling

the war’s effects on finances. —Franklin Lischke illustration




From 1768, the Ridgefie|c| parish had
been served by the Rev. Epinetus
Townsend, who had been ordained in
England in 1762 and also ministered to
parishes in Ridgebury and Salem (NY).
He was an outspoken Loyalist, preach-
ing sermons against the rebellion,
“before and even after the Declaration
of Independence,’ according to Haight.

Eventua"y though, “he was sub-
ject to severe treatment at the hands
of the patriots. Like many other
Church of England missionaries,
whose loyalties precluded the continu-
ance of their ministries, Mr. Townsend
fled to New York, a Tory strongho|d,"
Haight wrote.

In New York, he became attached
to a British regiment as a chaplain and
was ordered to Halifax, Nova Scotia,

in 1779. During a severe storm, Mr.

In 1819, a steeple was added to the second church, and later, a bell.

—Franklin Lischke illustration

Townsend, his wife and five children all were lost
when their ship sank in Boston Bay. Only 37 when
he died, he was the last of the Church of Eng|and
clergy to lead St. Stephen'’s.

After the Revolution and the adoption of the
U.S. Constitution, former Church of England
parishioners in Ridgefield eventually regrouped:
Some had chosen to support the Revolution; some
Loyalists had fled Connecticut, but eventually
returned to the state and signed |oya|ty oaths and
were pardoned and regained their property.

The previous church, severely damaged when it
was set on fire during the Battle of Ridgefield, was
torn down in 1784 and it was voted to build a new
church, a little south of the old one. Ebenezer
Stebbins, Benjamin Hoyt and Ezekiel Wilson were

in charge of the construction. In 1789, a meeting

of the First Episcopal Society took place in the
Ridgefield Town House and voted to support
Dr. David Perry to be ordained as the new rector
of the church.

For several years, services had only been read
occasionally by ordained ministers, who were scarce
after the connection to the Church of England was
severed by the war. Dr. Perry served for four years
before leaving the ministry to devote himself to
medicine.

Building the new church was a slow process as
the post-war population lacked resources to obtain
materials or pay increased taxes (the town was still
collecting taxes for church societies: Congregational
by default, or another church if designated by the
taxpayer). Debts from the war still hung over

Connecticut towns.



RIDGEFIELD HISTORICAL SOCIETY

FEBRUARY 2025

A postcard from 1910 shows the third church, the former Keeler Dauchy home that became the rectory, and North Hall,

built in 1909.

According to St. Stephen’s historian Robert
Haight, “The church was completed in March 1791,
about seven years after the inception of the
project... It was a brown wooden structure, 44 feet
in length and 32 feet in width. It had two entranc-
es, one at the south end and one on the east side
which was parallel to Main Street. The church had
a ga"ery at the south end reached |oy a stairway
near the rear on the west side. Of course, there was
no heat or light in the building.”

A steeple was added to the church building
some years later and a bell was installed in 1828;
in 1831, the church was consecrated by the Rev.
Bishop Brownell, who confirmed 52 persons. At
this time, the church was named St. Stephen’s. By
1841, it was decided to build a new church on land
donated |oy Isaac Jones to augment the originai
property owned |oy the parish; the cornerstone
was laid on Aug. 12,1841. This church would be
oriented as the current one is: with the entry in
the east end of the building and the altar and
pulpit to the west.

In his book, The History of Ridgefieid, the
Rev. Daniel W. Teller notes that in the new church,
“Tablets were also p|aced in the walls of the church
in commemoration of two venerable |aymen of the
parish, one to Samuel Stebbins, Esq., the other to
Nathan Dauci'\y, both firm and zealous supporters
of the Church in all its vicissitudes — the former
a distinguished and useful citizen of the town, as
well as of the parish; for forty years the town clerk
and during a period of forty-six years the parish
clerk, and for over forty years the senior warden
of the church.”

With the construction of the third church
building, the parish was able to begin Sunday
School, an important element in the re|igious life
of member families. Ridgefield’s population grew
and changed with the arrival of the railroad in the
mid-19th Century, making a trip from New York
into the center of town much more convenient
for wealthy New Yorkers who began to build their
“summer cottages" around the vi||age. Many of

these new families worshipped at St. Stephen’s.
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In 1909, a new church house, now called North
Hall, was added, providing needed meeting space for
church organizations as well as for other town groups.
The rectory, which sat in between the church and the
new ha", was moved westward about 50 feet, ac-
cording to historian Haight, to form “a quadrang|e of
attractive proportions.”

By 1913, discussions focused on renovations to
the 70-year-o|d church bui|ding, which had a number
of structural problems. Eventually it was decided that
a new church would be built. Its site was a matter of
some controversy, according to Haight, who wrote
that the vestry favored p|acing the new church on
the site of the rectory, while the |oui|ding committee
favored rebuilding on the site of the third church. The
|oui|ding committee, which prevai|ed, included many
prominent residents: Mrs. D. Smith Sholes, Mrs. F.E.
Lewis (who resigned within a few weeks of joining and
was replaced by Albert E. Storer), Miss Mary Olcott,
E. P. Dutton, Jonathan Pulley, and William Bunker.

DS s e —
An interior view of the third church, ca. 1910.

After considering three architects’ proposals
for the new church, two of them Gothic designs,
the building committee selected the Colonial-style
church proposed by W. Kerr Rainsford of Allen &
Collins of Boston. (Mr. Rainsford’s father, Dr.
William S. Rainsford, a retired Episcopal minister,
lived at Savin Hill, now known as Le Chateau, just
over the state line in South Salem, N.Y.)

In the building committee’s report, written by
Mr. Bunker, he explained the choice: “At first the
plans for the new Saint Stephen’s took shape about
a Gothic building but the old Colonial traditions
of the civil and religious life proved too strongly
grounded in the hearts of the peop|e. It seemed
best to us (the Committee), therefore that a
Colonial church should again rise upon the old site.”
The p|ans for the Georgian structure were
unanimously accepted; Mr. Rainsford also

designed the interior, inc|uding the pews, pu|pit,

altar, and chancel Furnishings.
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The low bidder for the project was Ernest
Scott of RidgeﬁeH; demolition of the old church
began in May 1914 and the cornerstone from the
old church was laid for the new one on June 28,
1914. In less than a year, the new church was com-
pleted and the first service in it took place on May
2,1915. The church was consecrated on May 30,
1916, fo"owing a month of turmoil, as the financial
records for the building project and other church
funds were found to be in a state of disarray, with
a deficit of about $13,000. Cyrus A. Cornen, Jr,,
resigned as treasurer on May 28 and was replaced
by Seth Low Pierrepont; an urgent fund-raising
effort had cleared the debt in
just four weeks, a||owing the
church to be consecrated.

Soon, the church’s leaders
turned their attention to the rec-
tory. In its ear|y days, the parson-
age house was on land owned by
Col. Philip Burr Bradley (now the
site of Ballard Park), but without
full ownership of the property,
the church decided sell its in- -
terest there and buy a bui|ding
for the use of the rector nearer /4
to the church. The choice was
Ashland Cottage (now 321 Main
Street), where the Rev. William
Staunton Jr., took up residence
in 1850. In 1887, the church had -l
the opportunity to |ouy the home
of Keeler Dauchy, which stood
just to the north of the church,
foruseasa rectory; he was the

longtime senior warden of St.
Stephen’s. The church sold
Ashland Cottage in 1889.

By 1914, as plans for a new rectory were devel-
oped, the former Dauchy house-turned-rectory was
moved by Caro H. Northrop to a site on Catoonah
Street, where it still stands.

The new rectory, still in use, was approved by
the vestry in 1915 and a committee of Albert H.
Storer, Mr. and Mrs. F.E. Lewis and the rector, the
Rev. William B. Lusk. While the committee quickly
had plans for a wooden colonial-style building (drawn
by architect William Sunderland of Danbury), the
vestry urged that a rectory built of stone to match

the church be designed by W. Kerr Rainsford.
An adamant refusal by Mr. and Mrs. Lewis to

Christ B|essing the Children, the chancel window in the fourth church buiHing,
was the gift of Mrs. F.E. Lewis, in memory of her parents, Clara Alsop Russell
and Samuel Wadsworth Russell. It was created by Frederick Stymetz Lamb

in collaboration with Mrs. Lewis.




associate rector. Since May 2021, it has been
restored and returned to its original use as a
private residence. With the sale of 351 Main Street,
St. Stephen’s reconfigured and rebuilt its parking
area behind the church, rectory and North Hall.
One of the church’s great community traditions
had been the Nutmeg Festival (so named by the
Rev. Aaron Manderbach in the mid-20th Century),
which filled the church grounds visitors and
fund-raising booths. What began as an Apron and
Cake Sale on the porch of the rectory 1892, grew
into an event that drew thousands to Ridgefield;
it made its final appearance in August 2018.

The Rev. William B. Lusk was rector of St. Stephen’s Church
from 1915 t0 1950. During World War Il he took leave to

work in England (he was a native of Northern Ireland).

participate in building such a structure convinced
the vestry to endorse the colonial building and it
was begun on Sept. 26,1915, and completed on July
7,1916. While the construction was underway, the
Lusks lived in the Tuttle-Smith House, just south
of St. Stephen'’s (now a private home), which the
church rented.

It turned out that Oatland, the 351 Main Street
former home of the Rev. James Tuttle-Smith,
would be given to St. Stephen’s Church in 1958;
it had been the offices of Electro Mechanical

The Rev. Aaron Manderbach, celebrating his 105th birthday
in 2017 (inset photo from 1970s), was rector of St. Stephen’s

Research, headed by Henri Doll of Spectacle Lane.
As South Hall of St. Stephen’s Church, it |orieﬂy from 1950 to 1980, one of the two longest-serving
contained the offices of the Ridgefield Board of clergymen in St. Stephen’s history.

Education and later had an apartment used by the
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St. Stephen’s parish house, known as North Hall, was built in 1909. —Franklin Lischke illustration

A church that was founded in Ridgefield’s early days,

that endured the upheava| and aftermath of the American
Revolution, and that has grown and changed with the town,
now embarks on its fourth century as an integra| part of the RIDGEFIELD

community and a historic presence in the center of town. HISTORICAL
SOCIETY

Special events throughout 2025 will mark the tricentennial
The Ridgefield Historical Society

The Scott House, 4 Sunset Lane

of St. Stephen’s Church, inc|uding Homecoming Weekend
on Sept. 27-28. Tuesday to Thursday, 1-5pm
203-438-5821 ridgefieldhistoricalsociety.org
For more information, visit: Peter Parley Schoolhouse, West Lane
www.ststephensridgefield.org/celebrating-300-years. Last Sundays, 1-4 p.m., May-October

Find us on Facebook and Instagram

#RidgefieldHistoricalSociety

E-mail: info@ridgefieldhistoricalsociety.org

Stephen Bartkus, Executive Director,

sbartkus@ridgefieldhistoricalsociety.org




